IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

THOMAS E. DAVID A/K/A THOMAS EUGENE DAVID

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

An Appeal from the Circuit Court Of Tate County, Mississippi

APPELLANT

DOCKET NO. 2008-KA-01593-COA

APPELLEE



Copy

JUN () 1 2009 OFFICE OF THE GUERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

⁶B. BRENNAN HORAN, **2620** GOODMAN RD. W. STE. A HORN LAKE, MS. 38637 PHONE: (662) 393-5520 ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Whether or not the trial court committed reversible error in allowing the testimony of Mrs. Hancock.
- 2. That the Defendant should have been allowed Jury Instruction D-5.
- 3. Defendant asserts that the trial judges was excessive in the sentencing of the Defendant.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

. .

This is an Appeal from a jury trial wherein the Defendant, Thomas David was found Guilty of Aggravated assault.

The case was tried before a jury on June 18, 2008. The state called Will Hancock, the victim in the case, Shane Brewer Deputy Sheriff Tate County, Joann Hancock, wife of the victim. The defense called as their witnesses Elree Faulkner and the defendant Thomas Eugene David.

The Defense filed for the Courts consideration a Motion In Limine concerning the States witness Joann Hancock. The Defense adequately showed to the court that Mr. David did not know Mr. Hancock on the date of the alleged aggravated assault of October 21, 2006. The record shows that Mr. David met Mrs. Hancock for the first time in August 2007 at which time she had a conversation with Mr. David at approximately 7:40 a.m. on a day she was carrying her daughter to school. The Court over ruled the Motion and Mrs. Hancock's testimony was allowed. The defense further objected to her testimony when she attempted to take the stand at trial.

The case centers around an incident where Mr. David was on his way home, in his vehicle and upon approaching Mr. Hancock at dusk or slightly thereafter, avoided a collision with Mr. Hancock while he was driving his tractor without headlights. Mr. David pulled over and had a conversation with Mr. Hancock concerning the dangerous condition that he caused on the road. The testimony between Mr. David and Mr. Hancock differs at this point wherein Mr. David alleged, which is substantiated by Mr. Elree Faulkner, Mr. Hancock exited his tractor with something in his right hand which

(6)

apparently was a wrench. Mr. Elree Faulkner testified that Mr. Hancock had told him after the incident that he had gotten off the tractor with a wrench in his hand. Mr. David, asserts that he was in a defensive posture at that time and drew his weapon to prevent any further advancement of Mr. Hancock. Mrs. Hancock testified that Mr.David, in August, some 10 months after the alleged assault on her husband , confronted her after she exited her driveway on Wall Hill Rd., Tate county. She states that Mr. David after pulling next to her said " well you guys has caused me a lot of grief, and it will not go unnoticed". Mr. David's testimony varies from Mrs. Hancock in that he asserts Mrs. Hancock was not traveling down the road at 40mph but that she was at the end of her driveway when he pulled up to her. He states the conversation was not threatening. Both the Hancock's and Mr. David live on Wall Hill Road however neither of the Hancock's or Mr. David had ever met.

The case went to the jury and after deliberation and a note from the jury the jury returned a verdict of guilty for aggravated assault.

From said jury verdict the defendant appealed.

.'.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

. .

That the Trial Court erred in denying the defendants Motion In Limine concerning the testimony of Joann Hancock. The testimony should of been excluded according to Miss Rule of evidence 404(b) the testimony of Mrs. Hancock proved to be inflammatory to the jury and its probative value was greatly out weighed by the prejudicial effect it had on the jury. Additionally, the Court should have allowed the defense jury instruction D-5. Finally, the defendant asserts that the sentence of a trial court was excessive and should be reexamined by the Supreme Court.

ARGUMENT

1.WHETHER OR NOT THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR IN ALLOWING THE TESTIMONY OF MRS. HANCOCK.

Mississippi Rule of Evidence 404(b) states "Evidence of other crimes, wrongs or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show that he acted in conformity therewith. It may, however, be admissible for other purposes such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident." Mrs. Hancock testified about events which occurred 10 months after the alleged aggravated assault on her husband. None of the exceptions to 404(b) are present in the case sub judice. The testimony of Mrs. Hancock (J. Hancock p. 109, L 25-27) and that of Mr. David (T. David p. 157 L. 22-27) made the record clear that Mr. David and Mrs. Hancock never met until August of 2007. The testimony of Mrs. Hancock should have been excluded.

The standard of review employed by the Supreme Court regarding the admissibility of evidence is well settled. The trial judge enjoys a great deal of discretion as to the relevance and admissibility of evidence. Unless the judge abuses this discretion as to be prejudicial to the accused, the court will not revise its ruling. Thomas vs. State 2009 WL 921092 (Miss, app). The court citing Robinson vs. State, 947 So 2nd 235, 238 (Miss 2006). Where evidence of other crimes is admissible under M.R.E. 404(b), it can not be admitted unless it also passes muster under M.R.E. 403. that is, the risk of undue prejudice must not substantially out weigh its probative value. Ballenger vs. State 667 So.2nd 1242, 1257 (Miss. 1995). Evidence of other crimes wrongs or acts is admissible if the offense being tried and the other act "are so interrelated as to constitute a single transaction or a closely related series of transactions or occurrence". Welde vs. State 3 So.3rd 113,117 (Miss. 2009). Further this court has applied a two part test to determine admissible evidence under rule 404(b) the evidence 1) be relevant to prove a material issue other than the defendants character: and 2) the probative value of the evidence must out weigh the prejudicial effect. The second part of this analyses is required by M.R.E. 403 as rule 403 is the ultimate filter through which all otherwise admissible evidence must pass. Thus evidence which passes the two part test shall be admissible under both rule 404(b) and 403 Id. At 117.

÷.

Defense argues that the evidence of Mrs. Hancock passes neither test. First and foremost, it is not evidence that should have been included under 404(b) and arguendo if that test is passed the prejudicial effect it had on the jury out weighed its relevance.

The defendant again points out that alleged act was subsequent to the alleged

crime for which the defendant was indicted.

. .

2. THAT THE DEFENDANT SHOULD HAVE BEEN ALLOWED JURY INSTRUCTION D-5

D-5. The proposed defense instruction D-5 states.

"the court instruction to the jury that if you believe from the evidence that Mr. Hancock was a much larger and stronger person than that of the Defendant, and was capable of inflecting great and serious bodily harm upon the defendant with his hands, and the defendant had reason that he was then and there in danger of such harm at the hand of Mr. Hancock, and used a pistol with which he pointed at Mr. Hancock, to protect himself from harm, then the Defendant was justified, and that the verdict shall be "not guilty" even though Mr. Hancock may not have been armed. (clerks papers p. 111)

The record shows that Mr. Hancock was in fact 6ft 6in. nearly 6ft.7in. tall bare

footed and Mr. David was a substantial smaller man.(Hancock p. 81 L. 8-19)

The cross examination of Shane Brewer shows it was at dusk or slightly thereafter

when the altercation of October 21st occurred. (Brewer p. 105 L. 18-28). The

considerable size of Mr. Hancock coupled with the darkness that existed on that date are

facts enough to substantiate the instruction as proposed by Mr. David.. Certainly, Mr.

David's testimony that it appeared Mr. Hancock had something in his hand(David p. 126

L 24 – p. 127 L. 4) (David p. 128 L. 18 and L. 26-29) coupled with the testimony of Elree

Faulkner(Faulkner, p. 118-125) would have allowed the jury to consider self defense as a defense of Mr. David's actions. Mr. David thought Mr. Hancock was a weapon in himself. (David p. 129, L. 3.) Mr. David always felt Mr. Hancock the aggressor. (David, p. 129, L. 9-15) The defendant should have been granted defense instructions D-5.

.'.

3. DEFENDANT ASSERTS THAT THE TRIAL JUDGES WAS EXCESSIVE IN THE SENTENCING OF THE DEFENDANT.

Mr. David was given a sentence of 15 years in the Department of Corrections and a term of 5 years of reporting post release supervision.(clerks p. 122-124) In light of the fact that Mr. David pulled a weapon but never discharged the weapon and since he did not put the victim in any more fear then has been shown on the record the sentence is excessive and should be re-examined by the Supreme Court.

CONCLUSION

Mr. David asserts that testimony of Mrs. Hancock should have been excluded and the case should be remanded for rehearing or the case should be reversed and rendered for Mr. David. Her testimony was irrelevant and prejudicial. Further the jury instruction D-5 should have been granted by the Court. Mr. David's state of mind as stated on the record entitled him to instructions concerning the relative size of the victim. Finally, the Trial Judges sentence in this case of 15 years at the Mississippi Department of Corrections with 5 years reporting post release supervision was excessive in light of the facts and circumstances of the case.