### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

THOMAS E. DAVID

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2008-KA-1593

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

### BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

# APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: LAURA H. TEDDER

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

#

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
STATEMENT OF THE FACTS
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT
I. The trial court was within its discretion to admit the testimony of Mrs. Hancock
II. The trial court correctly refused jury instruction D-5
III. David's sentence was not excessive.
CONCLUSION

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

# STATE CASES

Cook v. State, 467 So.2d 203, 208 n. 2 (Miss.1985)
Griffith v. Griffith, 997 So.2d 218, 225 (Miss.Ct.App.2008)
Henry v. State, 816 So.2d 443, 447 (Miss.Ct.App.2002)
Jasper v. State, 759 So.2d 1136, 1141 (Miss .1999)
Jones v. State, 904 So.2d 149, 152 (Miss.2005)
Keys v. State, 635 So.2d 845 (Miss.1994)
Lenard v. State, 552 So.2d 93, 96 (Miss.1989)
Manuel v. State, 667 So.2d 590, 592 (Miss.1995)
Shearer v. State, 423 So.2d 824, 826 (Miss.1982)
Simmons v. State, 813 So.2d 710, 716 (Miss.2002)
Towner v. State, 837 So.2d 221, 227 (Miss.Ct.App.2003)
Turner v. State, 721 So.2d 642, 648 (Miss.1998)
Williams v. State, 784 So.2d 230, 236 (Miss.Ct.App.2000)

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. The trial court was within its discretion to admit the testimony of Mrs. Hancock.
- II. The trial court correctly refused jury instruction D-5.
- III. David's sentence was not excessive.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On or about January 11, 2007, a Tate County Grand Jury indicted Thomas E. David for the aggravated assault of William Hancock by pointing a gun at William Hancock and threatening him, in direct violation of 97-3-7(2)(a), Mississippi Code 1972 Annotated, as amended. (C.P. 005) David waived arraignment and entered a plea of not guilty. (C.P. 006) He was tried on Wednesday, June 18, 2008, and was convicted of aggravated assault. He was sentenced to 15 years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections and five years post-release supervision. The instant appeal ensued.

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On or about October 21, 2006, Will Hancock was driving his tractor. A car came up fast behind him and whipped around him, narrowly missing an oncoming vehicle. The vehicle (driven by David) that passed him then stopped in his lane without pulling off to the side of the road. Mr. Hancock pulled over to check on the driver of the stopped vehicle, assuming the driver was shaken up by the narrowly missed collision. When Mr. Hancock pulled over to the shoulder of the road, David got out of his vehicle and went into a rage of insults and cursing. He asked Mr. Hancock what he was doing there and Mr. Hancock replied that he was feeding hay. David continued to become more enraged. Mr. Hancock got down off his tractor in order to attempt to calm David and when he turned around David had unholstered his gun and aimed it at Mr.

Hancock's face. David had his finger on the trigger and told Mr. Hancock, "Back off. I'll blow you away. Back off." Mr. Hancock attempted to remain calm although David continued to threaten to shoot him. David held the gun about a foot and half from Hancock's face. He had both fingers on the trigger and was trembling. David continued to tell Mr. Hancock, "Back off. Back off." Hancock complied until he was standing against the tractor tire. David continued shaking and pointing the gun at Hancock's face. Hancock testified that he realized that David was beyond reason and determined that if David was going to shoot him, it would have to be in the backside while he got back on his tractor. Hancock got back on the tractor and looked down and David was still trembling and still had his weapon out. Hancock put his tractor in reverse, backed up a foot or two, and wrote down David's tag number.

Other than to tell David that he was putting out hay for his cows, Hancock did not speak to David. He testified that he did not brandish or display a weapon and that he did not threaten David in any way.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The circuit court properly allowed Mrs. Hancock to testify concerning her encounter with David subsequent to the incident of assault against her husband for which David was charged. .

Her testimony was not so prejudicial as to outweigh its probative value. Accordingly, the circuit court's admission of the testimony should be affirmed. This issue is without merit.

The trial court correctly refused jury instruction D-5. This issue is procedurally barred for failure to cite authority. However, even if the court were to reach the merits, the trial court ruled correctly, as David's self-defense theory was adequately covered in instruction D-2 and instruction D-5 was an improper comment on the evidence.

David offers the bare assertion that his sentence of 15 years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections and a term of five years of reporting post release supervision was excessive and fails to cite to any authority to support his claim. Further, his sentence is within the statutorily prescribed maximum for assault and is therefore not excessive.

#### ARGUMENT

## I. The trial court was within its discretion to admit the testimony of Mrs. Hancock.

A circuit court judge "enjoys a considerable amount of discretion as to the relevancy and admissibility of evidence." *Shearer v. State*, 423 So.2d 824, 826 (Miss.1982). reverse the circuit court judge unless he abused his discretion and caused Robinson to experience prejudice. <u>Id.</u>

Pursuant to Mississippi Rule of Evidence 404(b):

Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show that he acted in conformity therewith. It may, however, be admissible for other purposes such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident.

The Mississippi Supreme Court has held that Rule 404(b) "exists to prevent the State from suggesting that, since a defendant has committed other crimes previously, the probability is greater that he is also guilty of the offense for which he is presently charged." *Jasper v. State*, 759 So.2d 1136, 1141 (Miss.1999). "[E]ven when other-crimes evidence is admissible under M.R.E. 404(b), it must pass through the 'ultimate filter' of M.R.E. 403." *Id*. Additionally, "when other-crimes evidence is admitted under M.R.E. 404(b) a limiting instruction is required[.]" *Id*.

In the event that "404(b) evidence is offered and there was an objection which is overruled, the objection shall be deemed an invocation of the right to [an] M.R.E. 403 balancing analysis and a limiting instruction." *Id.* "The court shall conduct [a Rule 403 balancing test] and,

if the evidence passes that hurdle, give a limiting instruction unless the party objecting to the evidence objects to giving the limiting instruction." <u>Id.</u>

David filed a Motion in Limine to exclude the testimony of Joanne Hancock, the wife of the victim, Will Hancock, to a conversation she had with David after the assault occurred. Joanne Hancock testified that in August of 2007, as she was taking her daughter to school, she pulled out fo the driveway at about 7:40 a.m. After going about a quarter of a mile, she saw someone pulling up behind her. Mrs. Hancock was driving about 40 miles per hour and kept going. David pulled up beside her and they were both driving forward. Mrs. Hancock was unsure as to whether she perhaps had car trouble or that she might have hit a dog. She didn't stop because she had on her pajamas, slowed to about 30 miles per hour and rolled down the window to see what David wanted. He asked her, "Are you kin to the Hancocks?" Mrs. Hancock told him that they were the Hancocks. David then told her, "Well, you guys have caused me a lot of grief and it will not go unnoticed." Mrs. Hancock then realized that the man was David. Instead of pulling in front of her and going on, he got behind her and followed her all the way to her daughter's school. When Mrs. Hancock turned off to drop her daughter at school, David kept going. She interpreted David's behavior and words as threatening. (Tr. 108-113)

The trial court ruled that this testimony was admissible pursuant to Rule 404(b), as the testimony was relevant due to David's theory of self-defense. The testimony tends to show that did not fear the Hancocks and was not acting in self defense. While Rule 404(b) generally provides that evidence "of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show that he acted in conformity therewith," it excepts from the exclusion

those instances in which the evidence is offered to show, among other things, intent or absence of mistake or accident. See also *Jones v. State*, 904 So.2d 149, 152 (Miss.2005); *Simmons v. State*, 813 So.2d 710, 716 (Miss.2002). The State presented the testimony of Mrs. Hancock to rebut David's claim of self defense. Further, while the circuit court did not provide an on-the-record Rule 403 analysis, the court did hear arguments concerning the issue from both sides. From that, the circuit court ultimately found that allowing the witness to testify outweighed any prejudicial effect. The trial court did note during the proceedings, that it was David's burden to establish that evidence he moved to exclude was more prejudicial than probative. It is clear from the record that the trial court made a thorough review of the issue, hearing arguments from the lawyers on both sides

The circuit court properly allowed Mrs. Hancock to testify concerning her encounter with David subsequent to the incident of assault against her husband for which David was charged. . Her testimony was not so prejudicial as to outweigh its probative value. Accordingly, the circuit court's admission of the testimony should be affirmed. This issue is without merit.

#### II. The trial court correctly refused jury instruction D-5.

David offers the bare assertion that the trial court erroneously refused jury instruction D-5 and fails to cite to any authority to support his claim. "[F]ailure to cite any authority may be treated as a procedural bar, and we are under no obligation to consider the assignment [of error]." *Turner v. State*, 721 So.2d 642, 648 (Miss.1998) (citations omitted). "A party's failure to cite authority in support of an argument precludes consideration of the issue on appeal." *Griffith v. Griffith*, 997 So.2d 218, 225 (Miss.Ct.App.2008) (citing *Boutwell v. Boutwell*, 829 So.2d 1216, 1223 (Miss.2002)). Therefore, this issue is procedurally barred.

Without waiving the State's position that this issue is procedurally barred, should the Court determine to reach the merits of the issue, the State asserts that the trial court correct denied jury instruction D-5, which stated:

The Court instructs the jury that if you believe from the evidence that Mr. Hancock was a much larger and strong person than that of the Defendant, and was capable of inflicting great and serious bodily harm upon the Defendant with his hands, and that the Defendant had reason that he was then and there in danger of such harm at the hands of Mr. Hancock, and used a pistol with which he pointed at Mr. Hancock, to protect himself from such harm, then the Defendant was justified, and your verdict shall be "not guilty" even though Mr. Hancock may not have been harmed.

(C.P. 111)

A defendant is entitled to submit instructions that present her theory of the case. <u>Henry v. State</u>, 816 So.2d 443, 447 (Miss.Ct.App.2002). "[W]here there is serious doubt as to whether a requested instruction should be given, doubt should ordinarily be resolved in favor of the accused." <u>Lenard v. State</u>, 552 So.2d 93, 96 (Miss.1989). We will not reverse based on the denial of an instruction if "the jury has been properly, fully, and fairly instructed by other instructions." <u>Henry</u>, 816 So.2d at 447.

Jury instruction D-5 is an improper comment on the evidence relating to the alleged disparity in size of David and his victim. An instruction should not single out certain parts of the evidence to the point that it amounts to a comment on the evidence. *Manuel v. State*, 667 So.2d 590, 592 (Miss.1995).

David's theory of self defense was covered in jury instruction D-2, which was given to the jury, and stated:

The Court instructs the jury that to make an assault justifiable on the grounds of

self-defense, the danger to the Defendant, Thomas Eugene David, must be either present or urgent, or the Defendant must have reasonable grounds to apprehend design on the part of the victim, Mr. Hancock to kill him or to do some great bodily harm, and in addition to this he must have reasonable grounds to apprehend that there is imminent danger of such design being accomplished. It is for the jury to determine the reasonableness of the grounds upon which the Defendant acts.

(C.P. 106)

Jury instruction D-2 is a correct statement of the law of self defense and was sufficient to instruct the jury as to David's theory of justifiable assault. If one instruction is denied, and the essence of the rejected instruction is granted via another instruction, then the issue has been fairly presented to the jury. *Cook v. State*, 467 So.2d 203, 208 n. 2 (Miss.1985); *Keys v. State*, 635 So.2d 845 (Miss.1994). Therefore, this issue is without merit and the jury's verdict and the rulings of the trial court should be affirmed.

#### III. David's sentence was not excessive.

David offers the bare assertion that his sentence of 15 years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections and a term of five years of reporting post release supervision was excessive and fails to cite to any authority to support his claim. "[F]ailure to cite any authority may be treated as a procedural bar, and we are under no obligation to consider the assignment [of error]." *Turner v. State*, 721 So.2d 642, 648 (Miss.1998) (citations omitted). "A party's failure to cite authority in support of an argument precludes consideration of the issue on appeal." *Griffith v. Griffith*, 997 So.2d 218, 225 (Miss.Ct.App.2008) (citing *Boutwell v. Boutwell*, 829 So.2d 1216, 1223 (Miss.2002)). Therefore, this issue is procedurally barred.

Without waiving the State's claim that this issue is procedurally barred, should the Court determine to reach the merits of the issue, David's sentence is within the maximum period

allowed by law and is not excessive. "As a general rule, a sentence that does not exceed the maximum period allowed by statute will not be disturbed on appeal." *Towner v. State*, 837 So.2d 221, 227 (Miss.Ct.App.2003) (citing *Wallace v. State*, 607 So.2d 1184, 1188 (Miss.1992)). "A sentence is subject to review, however, where it is alleged that the penalty imposed is disproportionate to the crime charged." *Williams v. State*, 784 So.2d 230, 236 (Miss.Ct.App.2000). However, in the case at bar, David does not allege disproportionality of his sentence, but merely charges that his sentence is "excessive."

David was convicted of the aggravated assault of William Hancock by pointing a gun at him and threatening him, in violation of § 97-3-7(2)(a), <u>Mississippi Code 1972</u> Annotated, as amended, which provides:

A person is guilty of aggravated assault if he attempts to cause serious bodily injury to another, or causes such injury purposely, knowingly or recklessly under circumstances manifesting extreme indifference to the value of human life . . . and, upon conviction, he shall be punished by imprisonment in the county jail for not more than one 91) year or in the Penitentiary for not more than twenty (20) years.

David was sentenced to fifteen (15) years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections with five years post-release supervision. This sentence is well within the maximum sentence provided pursuant to § 97-3-7(2)(a), Mississippi Code 1972 Annotated, as amended. Therefore, this issue is without merit and the jury's verdict and the rulings of the trial court should be upheld.

# **CONCLUSION**

The assignments of error presented by the Appellant are without merit and the jury's verdict and the rulings of the trial court should be affirmed.